## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

<del></del>
CASE NO
L.T. Case No. 2D08-6242
<del></del>
MARK DAVID KANAREK, M.D. and NADAL PEDIATRICS, P.A.,
Petitioners,
VS.
JOSEPH SULLIVAN, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Sammy Sullivan,
Respondent.
ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF AN OPINION
OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION
<del></del>

JOSEPHER & BATTEESE, P.A. Wachovia Center, Suite #1100 100 South Ashley Drive Tampa, FL 33602

Tel: (813) 228-7755 Fax: (813) 228-9006 HICKS, PORTER, EBENFELD & STEIN, P.A.
799 Brickell Plaza, 9<sup>th</sup> Floor
Miami, FL 33131
Tel: (305) 374-8171
Fax: (305) 372-8038

# **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners, MARK DAVID KANAREK, M.D. and NADAL PEDIATRICS (hereinafter "Dr. Kanarek"), pursuant to Rule 9.120, Fla.R.App.P., file this brief in support of their notice invoking the Court's conflict jurisdiction under Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, and state as follows.

In an opinion reversing a judgment in favor of Petitioners and remanding for a new trial, the Second District below cited as controlling authority *City of Tampa v. Companioni*, 26 So. 3d 598 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009), *rev. granted*, 23 So. 3d 711 (Fla. 2010), a decision that is currently pending in this Court, and the outcome of which would be dispositive of the instant action.

The Second District also held, in contrast to established precedent, that a where a presiding judge is disqualified after a trial based on perceived bias, a successor judge ruling on post-trial motions <u>must</u> order a new trial if the disqualified judge indicated post-trial that error occurred, even if the purported error is not reflected anywhere in the trial transcript.

This is a wrongful death medical malpractice action that resulted in a jury verdict for Dr. Kanarek, the defendant below. Although counsel for Respondents made numerous objections during the trial, he specifically represented throughout that he was not seeking a mistrial. (Op. p. 3).

After the jury rendered a verdict in favor of Dr. Kanarek, Respondent moved for a new trial based solely on alleged misconduct by Dr. Kanarek's counsel. At the hearing on the motion for new trial, the presiding judge made comments accusing counsel for Dr. Kanarek of engaging in inappropriate behavior during the trial, and stated that it caused her to question the fairness of the trial. (Op. p. 3). Curiously, both the presiding judge and the Second District noted that any such alleged misconduct which purportedly deprived the Respondents of a fair trial "could not be gleaned from the cold record," despite the existence of a complete trial transcript. (Op. pp. 3, 4).

Because the presiding judge's post-trial comments were contrary to the trial transcripts and suggested that the court was going to rule based on perceptions not supported by the record, Dr. Kanarek had no choice but to move to disqualify the judge. (Op. p. 4). The presiding judge found the motion to be legally sufficient and disqualified herself from the proceeding. (*Id.*). A successor judge who was presented with the trial record denied Respondents' motion for new trial. (Op. p. 5).

On appeal, the Second District elevated the post-trial comments of the presiding judge over the contents of the trial transcripts and held that, based solely on the presiding judge's post-trial comments that provided grounds for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It was Dr. Kanarek's position in the motion to disqualify and on appeal that the trial transcripts evidenced absolutely no improper or prejudicial conduct on the part of his counsel, and that no such misconduct occurred.

disqualification, a new trial was required. Although the Second District noted that Dr. Kanarek had prevented Respondent's attempt to take a post-trial deposition of the presiding judge, it did not remand the case to allow for a deposition. (Op. p. 4).

Significantly, in its opinion ordering the new trial the Second District recognized that the legal authority it was relying on in permitting a new trial is currently pending review in this Court. After recognizing that the Respondent had never moved for a mistrial, the Second District stated as follows:

We note that where a party has objected to errors at trial, is it not necessary for that party to move for a mistrial during the course of the trial in order to preserve the issue for purposes of a motion for new trial filed in the trial court. See City of Tampa v. Companioni, 26 So. 3d 598, 599 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009), review granted, 23 So. 3d 711 (Fla. 2010); Robinson v. State, 989 So. 2d 747, 750 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008); Nigro v. Brady, 731 So. 2d 54, 56 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

(Op. p. 3, n.1). As the Second District noted in its opinion, this Court granted review in *City of Tampa v. Companioni*, and it is currently pending as Case Number SC09-1800. Oral argument is scheduled for September 2, 2010.

Dr. Kanarek thereafter filed his notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

# **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court has conflict jurisdiction under *Jollie v. State*, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981), because the Second District's decision cited as controlling authority its decision in *City of Tampa v. Companioni*, 26 So. 3d 598 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009), *rev*.

granted, 23 So. 3d 711 (Fla. 2010), which is pending review in this Court. If *Companioni* were reversed, it would mandate reversal in this case as well. This creates a *prima facie* express conflict.

The Second District's decision also conflicts with case law from the Fourth and Fifth Districts holding that a litigant is permitted to remove the taint of a disqualified judge's ruling by seeking reconsideration of the judge's factual rulings from the successor judge. *Blackpool Assocs., Ltd. v. SM-106, Ltd.*, 839 So. 2d 837 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003); *Goolsby v. State*, 948 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007). Under the Second District's decision, a presiding judge's post-trial comment about the trial cannot be assailed, even where a complete trial transcript exists.

The Second District's decision also conflicts with case law from the First and Fourth District's holding that a trial judge's stated observation cannot provide grounds for a new trial in the face of a contrary record. *Dailey v. Hendricks*, 213 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1st DCA 1968); *Manes v. Rowley*, 218 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969); *Zimmerman v. Langlais*, 248 So. 2d 694 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THIS COURT HAS *PRIMA FACIE* JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION CITES AS CONTROLLING AUTHORITY A DECISION THAT IS PENDING ON REVIEW IN THIS COURT.

This Court has held that "a district court decision which cites as controlling authority a decision that is either pending review in or has been reversed by this

Court constitutes prima facie express conflict and allows this Court to exercise its jurisdiction." Wingfield v. State, 799 So. 2d 1022, 1024 (Fla. 2001) (e.s.), citing Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981). See also State v. Loftin, 534 So. 2d 1148, 1149 (Fla. 1988) (same); Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Fla.R.App.P.

The Second District's decision falls squarely within the "Jollie" jurisdiction that this Court has long recognized as constituting *prima facie* express conflict. Dr. Kanarek contended below that Respondent had waived its motion for new trial by failing to move for a mistrial during trial.<sup>2</sup> (Op. p. 4). The Second District expressly rejected Dr. Kanarek's argument based on *City of Tampa v. Companioni*, 26 So. 3d 598 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009). In *Companioni*, the Second District held that to preserve a trial error under the "prejudicial" standard as opposed to fundamental error, it is not necessary for the moving party to request a mistrial during trial, so long as the error is raised in a motion for new trial. *Id.* at 599.

As noted, this Court granted review in *Companioni*, and the case is currently pending in this Court. If this Court holds that *Companioni* was wrongly decided, it

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., Walt Disney World Co. v. Althouse, 427 So. 2d 1135, 1136 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) ("Had Althouse requested a mistrial...perhaps he would have been entitled to one. However, counsel for Althouse elected to let the trial proceed. This decision must be given its due consequences. Althouse cannot be allowed to proceed on a 'heads I win; tails you lose' basis."); Weise v. Repa Film Int'l, Inc., 683 So. 2d 1128, 1129 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) ("An argument on appeal that opposing counsel's remarks were so egregious as to [warrant a new trial] will generally be sorely lacking in credibility where there is no objection, or, if an objection is sustained, there is no motion for mistrial.").

would mandate a different result in the instant case. Dr. Kanarek thus submits that this Court should accept review of the Second District's decision below pending its resolution of *Companioni*.

II. THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH CASE LAW FROM OTHER DISTRICT COURTS HOLDING THAT STATEMENTS (i.e., FACTUAL FINDINGS) BY A DISQUALIFIED JUDGE MAY NOT BE GIVEN CONSIDERATION IN SUBSEQUENT RULINGS.

The Second District's reliance on *Companioni* in ordering a new trial constitutes a *prima facie* express conflict for purposes of this Court's jurisdiction, and thus Dr. Kanarek need not demonstrate any additional conflict in order to establish this Court's jurisdiction.

Nonetheless, it should be noted that the Second District's decision, which based its reversal not on the trial record but solely on the statement of the disqualified presiding judge, is in express and direct conflict with decisions of other district courts holding that factual findings by a disqualified judge may <u>not</u> be considered when ruling on a motion. Thus, this Court has jurisdiction on this basis as well. Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Fla.R.App.P.

Where a judge has been disqualified based on a legally sufficient motion asserting prejudice or bias of the judge, the judicial disqualification rule allows the litigants to have the successor judge reconsider the disqualified judge's "[p]rior factual or legal rulings." *See* Rule 2.330(h), Fla.R.Jud.Admin. "The purpose of

reconsideration is to remove the taint of prejudice where rulings might be perceived as so tainted." *Rath v. Network Mktg.*, *L.C.*, 944 So. 2d 485, 487 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).

Both the Fourth and Fifth Districts have applied this rule literally to mean that after disqualification, "the successor judge may reconsider any prior <u>factual</u> or legal rulings." *Blackpool Assocs., Ltd. v. SM-106, Ltd.*, 839 So. 2d 837, 838 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) (e.s.). *See also Goolsby v. State*, 948 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007) (after presiding judge was disqualified, successor judge was not permitted to consider or base decision on motion for post-conviction relief on transcript of evidentiary hearing conducted by first judge).

Contrary to the Judicial Administration Rule and the above-cited case law, the Second District held below that the taint of prejudicial remarks made while post-trial motions are pending cannot be removed, even in the face of a contrary record. Under the Second District's opinion, instead of Rule 2.330 operating to remove the taint of the judge's remarks, when invoked post-trial it has the effect of rendering the disqualified judge's remarks incontrovertible.

Thus, the Second District decision also conflicts with decisions of the Fourth and Fifth Districts on the issue of whether Rule 2.330(h) of the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration permits a court to reverse a judgment based solely on judicial statements that provided grounds for disqualification.

# III. THE SECOND DISTRICT DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS FROM THE FIRST AND FOURTH DISTRICTS HOLDING THAT A REVERSAL MUST BE BASED ON THE RECORD AND NOT STATEMENTS BY THE TRIAL JUDGE.

Finally, the Second District's opinion is directly contrary to the settled principal of law that a trial judge's observation cannot provide grounds for a new trial in the face of a contrary record. *Dailey v. Hendricks*, 213 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1st DCA 1968); *Manes v. Rowley*, 218 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969); *Zimmerman v. Langlais*, 248 So. 2d 694 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971).

In *Dailey*, after a jury rendered a verdict for plaintiffs in a personal injury action, the trial judge entered a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and an order granting defendants a new trial in the event the judgment notwithstanding the verdict was reversed on appeal. 213 So. 2d at 600. After this Court quashed the original decision of the First District based on the standard of review applied, the First District issued an opinion reversing the trial court's judgment notwithstanding the verdict, as well as the order alternatively granting a new trial, explaining:

It is well settled that a trial judge's finding that 'the verdict is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence' must find a basis in the record to sustain the granting of a new trial. An observation by a trial judge that the verdict is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence does not make such a finding an absolute fact; it must be found from a basis in the record. An appellate court does not review a trial judge's conscience – it reviews the record upon which a trial judge bases his conscience. If the record does not support the finding, it necessarily follows that an abuse of discretion is indicated on the part of the trial judge.

*Id.* at 602 (e.s.). The First District reversed the order granting a new trial based on its conclusion that "the record in this cause does not support the trial judge's finding that the verdict was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence...." *Id.* 

The Fourth District has applied *Dailey* to find an order granting a new trial to constitute an abuse of discretion where "it does not find a basis in the record...." *Zimmerman*, 248 So. 2d at 696. *See also Manes*, 218 So. 2d at 488 (although an order granting a new trial may not be overturned absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion, "[t]he exercise of such discretion must, however, find support in the record.").

The successor judge was in the identical situation as the First and Fourth Districts in *Dailey*, *Manes* and *Zimmerman*, and in fact the Second District below even directly analogized the circumstances of the instant case to a court reviewing an order finding a verdict to be contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. (Op. p. 8). However, in contrast to the above-cited cases, the Second District held that even on remand it would not be sufficient for a successor judge to review the trial record and determine whether the trial court's stated observation was supported by the record. Rather, according to the Second District, the trial judge's post-trial statement automatically requires a new trial notwithstanding the record.

The Second District attempted to justify this novel holding by comparing the instant situation to cases where a successor judge must consider an argument that

the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence based on witness credibility. (Op. pp. 7-8). On its face, however, that argument makes no sense. A witness' demeanor cannot be seen on the record, and there is generally no reason to state it on the record. In contrast, it is implausible that the alleged worst attorney conduct a judge has ever witnessed, causing the judge "grave concern as to the fairness of this trial" (Op. p. 3), would not appear on the trial record, either through defense counsel's own statements or an admonishment by the court. In fact, the Second District assumed without any record basis that the successor judge who was presented with the trial record ordered a new trial because he "felt constrained" to do so, and not because the record affirmatively disproved the presiding judge's statements.

The Second District's opinion cannot be reconciled with the above-cited line of cases holding that a trial court's statement may not provide grounds for a new trial in the face of a contradictory record. This Court should grant review to resolve this conflict as well.

# **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, MARK DAVID KANAREK, M.D. and NADAL PEDIATRICS, respectfully submit that this Court has conflict jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Fla.R.App.P., and that review should be granted.