IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: <u>SC10-1196</u> L.T. CASE NO.: 2D08-6242

MARK DAVID KANAREK, M.D. and NADAL PEDIATRICS, P.A., Petitioners,

v.

JOSEPH SULLIVAN, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Sammy Sullivan, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF AN OPINION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

George A. Vaka, Esquire VAKA LAW GROUP, P.L. 777 S. Harbour Island Blvd., #300 Tampa, Florida 33602 813.549.1799 Telephone 813.549.1790 Facsimile

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent, JOSEPH SULLIVAN,¹ as Personal Representative of the Estate of Sammy Sullivan, adopts the facts stated in the decision of Second District Court of Appeal as his Statement of the Case and Facts.² To assist the Court, however, Mr. Sullivan provides the following summary of relevant facts as follows:

This case arises from the tragic death of a 23-month old baby boy. (A2) His death was caused by an invasive, flesh eating Group A Streptococcus bacterial infection, 48 hours after he was diagnosed by Dr. Kanarek as having only a viral cold or flu. (A2) The Estate maintained that the child would have been successfully treated with antibiotics had he been correctly diagnosed when he was seen by Dr. Kanarek. The position of the Defendants was that the child did not have the deadly infection when he was seen by Dr. Kanarek and therefore, Dr. Kanarek was not negligent in his care and treatment of the child.

¹ The Respondent, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Sammy Sullivan, will be referred to as Plaintiff or the Estate. The Petitioners, Mark David Kanarek, M.D. and Nadal Pediatrics, P.A., will be referred to as Defendants or by name. ² In conformity with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.120(d), the Decision of the Second District Court of Appeals is attached hereto as an Appendix. All references to the Appendix will be referred to as (A) followed by citations to the appropriate page number of the Appendix. The five-day jury trial was highly contentious. (A2) On two occasions, the Court cleared the courtroom at which time the trial judge held private off-therecord discussions with the attorneys. (A2)

After the jury returned a defense verdict, the Estate moved for a new trial maintaining that it was deprived of a fair trial based upon the improprieties of defense counsel which included both verbal behavior, some that was recorded on the transcript and non-verbal behavior which occurred in the presence of the jury. During the course of the trial, the Estate did not move for a mistrial. Instead, on several occasions when the Court sustained the Estate's repeated objections regarding defense counsel's inappropriate behavior, the Estate stated that it was not moving for a mistrial. (A-2-3)

Several weeks after the trial and during the first hearing on the Motion for New Trial, the trial judge stated that the case was extraordinary because of the conduct of defense counsel which had risen to the level of causing her grave concern as to the fairness of the trial. She also noted that what had occurred during the course of the trial could not be gleaned from the cold record in the case. (A3) Because the Estate had filed a memorandum response to the one filed by the defense, the trial judge offered the defense the opportunity to file a further written reply. Three days later and before she could rule on the Motion for New Trial, the defense filed a Motion to Disqualify which she found to be facially sufficient. (A4)

Thereafter, because the presiding trial judge had witnessed the inappropriate conduct of defense counsel during the course of the trial, much of which was outside the scope of the transcribed record, and only she could observe its pernicious effect upon the jury, the Estate attempted to take her deposition for the benefit of the successor judge who would rule on the Motion for New Trial. The defense moved for a protective order. That Motion was granted by the first successor judge. (A4) Thereafter, the first successor judge recused herself, and the second was transferred out of the division. The Motion was heard by a third successor judge. He recognized that it was the presiding trial judge, and not he, who was in the best position to address the Motion for New Trial given the fact that it was based on the effect of defense counsel's conduct during the course of the trial. (A7) He also was concerned that defense counsel's tactic of disqualifying the trial judge gave the defense an unfair advantage by frustrating the Court's fair consideration of the Motion for New Trial. (A5) Ultimately, that judge denied the motion without explanation. Reversing the Final Judgment and remanding for a New Trial, the Second District concluded that given the issues concerning the effect of defense counsel's courtroom behavior upon the jury, and the fact that much of that behavior was non-verbal and therefore not reflected in the transcribed

record, that the successor judge was not in a position to fairly rule on the merits of the motion for a new trial and as such, he should have granted the Motion rather than deny it. (A8) The Defendants thereafter timely filed their Notice to Invoke this Court's jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal cited to a case that is currently pending before this Court. The Estate acknowledges that such a citation would provide a proper basis to accept jurisdiction in this case if the Court were to rule on the merits of <u>*City of Tampa v. Companioni*</u>, 26 So. 3d 598 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2009) <u>review granted</u>, 23 So. 3d 771(Fla. 2010)

The decision of the Second District otherwise did not announce a rule that expressly and directly conflicts with any of the rules announced by any of the cases cited by the Defendants. Likewise, the Court did not misapply any rules stated in those cases, and as such, if the Court does not rule on the merits in the <u>Companioni</u> case, there is no other basis for jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT I

THIS COURT HAS *PRIMA FACIE* JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION CITES AS CONTROLLING AUTHORITY A DECISION THAT IS PENDING ON REVIEW IN THIS COURT

The Estate acknowledges the principle expressed by this Court in *Jollie v. State*, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981) that a District Court of Appeal opinion which

cites as controlling authority a decision that is either pending review or has been reversed by this Court constitutes prima facie express conflict that would allow this Court to exercise its constitutional discretion. The Second District's decision references City of Tampa v. Companioni, 26 So. 3d 598, 599 (Fla. 2DCA 2009), review granted 23 So. 3d 711 (Fla. 2010) which is obviously pending before this Court. However, and most respectfully, the undersigned has reviewed the jurisdictional briefing in that case and jurisdiction may have been improvidently granted. This Court has the ability to reconsider its jurisdictional decision, even after oral argument. See, Sterling v. Ohio Casualty Ins. Co., 967 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 2007) If jurisdiction is determined to have been improvidently granted in that case, then it cannot form the basis of constitutional conflict sufficient to provide this Court with jurisdiction to review the present decision. See, Harrison v. Hyster *Company*, 515 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1987).

ARGUMENTS II AND III

At the outset, there are several principles of Florida law common to the two arguments raised by the Petitioners. Pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) <u>Florida</u> <u>Constitution</u> (1980), this Court may only exercise its discretionary jurisdiction when an appellate decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another District Court of Appeal or this Court on the same question of law. The conflict must be expressed and contained within the written rule announced by the

Court. <u>See, Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980); <u>Dodi Publishing Co. v.</u> <u>Editorial America S.A.</u>, 385 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1980); <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986); <u>Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. National</u> <u>Adoption Counseling Service, Inc.</u> 498 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1986); <u>Florida Star v. B.J.</u> <u>F.</u>, 530 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1988). Those decisions which hold express and direct conflict on the same point of law must exist on the face of the two different opinions before jurisdiction may arise.

This Court has generally recognized two situations which authorize the invocation of its conflict jurisdiction. The first situation is when a decision announces a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by another appellate court. The second is where there has been an application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case decided by another appellate court. See, Neilson v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960). The only facts that are relevant to this Court's decisions to accept or reject a Petition based upon decisional conflict are the facts within the four corners of the decision allegedly in conflict. See, Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 n.3, (1986); Hardee v. State, 534 So. 2d 706, 707 (Fla. 1988). The Defendants do not analyze the alleged conflict in this manner. Using the appropriate analysis, they have not, and cannot, demonstrate such a conflict here.

II.

THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH CASE LAW FROM THE FOURTH AND FIFTH DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

At the outset, it must be noted that the Defendants misstate the rule of law which they claim as their basis of conflict. Neither the Fourth District's decision in Blackpool Associates, Ltd. v. S.M.-106, Ltd. 839 So. 2d 837, 838 (Fla. 4DCA 2003), nor the Fifth District's decision in Goolsby v. State, 948 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 5DCA 2007) stand for the proposition that statements or rulings of disqualified trial judges must be reconsidered or disregarded. In *Blackpool* the Fourth District merely stated that the successor judge may reconsider any prior factual or legal ruling of a disqualified judge. In Goolsby, the Fifth District had ordered the circuit court to reconsider Goolsby's motion for post-conviction relief, de novo. The matter was assigned to a different circuit judge who considered the court file along with the transcript of the hearing conducted by the disqualified judge and Goolsby's motion was denied. On appeal, Goolsby argued that it was error for the judge to rely upon the prior transcript. The Fifth District agreed indicating that when it ordered the *de novo* reconsideration, it contemplated either a new hearing or that the motion would be summarily denied with appropriate references to the

record and attachments. The Court noted that the procedure utilized by the trial court denied it the opportunity to view witnesses and weigh their credibility.

The Second District here did not announce a rule of law that in any way conflicts with rules expressed by the Fourth and Fifth Districts, respectively. Nor did the Second District misapply those rules in matters with substantially the same factual pattern as those cases. There simply is no conflict with those decisions.

III.

THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS FROM THE FIRST AND FOURTH DISTRICTS HOLDING THAT A REVERSAL MUST BE BASED ON THE RECORD AND NOT STATEMENTS BY THE TRIAL JUDGE.

The Defendants also contend that the Second District's decision conflicts with <u>Dailey v. Hendricks</u>, 213 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1DCA 1968); <u>Manes v. Rowley</u>, 218 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 4DCA 1969); <u>Zimmerman v. Langlais</u>, 248 So. 2d 694 (Fla. 4DCA 2971). They claim that the Second District held that even on remand, it would be insufficient for a successor judge to review the trial record and determine whether the trial court's stated observation was supported by the record. The Defendants further claim that the Second District ruled the trial judge's post-trial statement automatically requires a new trial notwithstanding the record. Most respectfully, the Second District never announced such a rule.

What the Second District did was very simple. Under circumstances it characterized as unique, it noted that the record demonstrated that the Defendants

were given an extension to file a reply memorandum but instead, filed a motion to disqualify the trial judge, after she had vocally expressed her observations about defense counsel's conduct, and its effect of the fairness of the proceedings. The Second District also noted that when the Estate attempted to depose the trial judge, who was the only person charged by law to consider the effect of defense counsel's misconduct upon the fairness of the proceedings, the Defendants moved for and were granted a protective order, thus forever silencing the only person in the judicial system who could have issued a meaningful ruling on the motion. Since it was impossible for any successor judge and frankly, for the Second District, to evaluate not only the verbal misconduct that may or may not appear in the transcript (inflection of voice, volume, etc.) and the non-verbal misconduct which clearly would not be reflected in the transcript (facial expressions, gestures, invasion of jury's space, etc.) the Second District had no alternative but to give deference to the record observations of the trial judge and order a new trial so as to guarantee fair proceedings among the parties. The Court did not announce any rule which conflicts with the cited cases, nor misapply the rules those cases supply.

CONCLUSION

Admittedly, the Second District has cited to an opinion that is currently pending before this Court and such citation would provide a proper basis to accept jurisdiction in this case, if the Court rules on the merits of <u>City of Tampa v.</u>

Companioni, 26 So. 3d. 598 (Fla. 2dDCA 2009) rev. granted, 23 So. 3d 771 (Fla. 2010).

If the Court reconsiders the exercise of jurisdiction in that case, there is no basis for the Court to exercise its discretion and accept jurisdiction as Defendants have not, and cannot, demonstrate any express and direct conflict between the present decision and any of the reported appellate decisions in the state.